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1. SUMMARY

1.1 Pembrokeshire County Council have received a planning application for the
construction of seven new houses with their own access road on a green field site near
the eastern end of Letterston. The pre-20th century settlement core of Letterston lies c.
500m to the west. In the main, it originated as a planted settlement led by a Flemming
named Lettard in the 12th century. The planned layout of that planted settlement is still
detectable in the layout of the village today.

1.2 Three mounds of Bronze Age date that lay 50-100m to the west of the proposed
development area were excavated by Dr.H.N.Savory in 1948 and 1963. The presence of
these and other known prehistoric monuments close to the proposed development area
led to the placing of a requirement for both a desk-based assessment and programme of
trial excavation. The three excavated mounds lay in a near straight line SW-NE. The
northernmost of these mounds (SMR PRN 2380) produced four cremation burials placed
in urns. The next mound to the south (PRN 2379) was apparently non-funerary. The
largest mound, SMR PRN 2381, lay at the southern end of the group. It had been built
over an earlier ring cairn and also a stone circle (comprising 20 standing stones) of
probable Neolithic date.

1.3 Nearby, a fourth and larger circular site has been identified on aerial photographs
(PRN 2393). This site lies to the north-east of the mounds, on the same general alignment
and less than 50m north of the proposed housing development. Described as a cropmark
on the Sites and Monuments Record, the monument is actually a low, circular earthwork
some 60m in diameter. In 1806, the Pembrokeshire antiquarian, Richard Fenton, carried
out his own excavations on the three mounds described above. Fenton also described
another site in the area that comprised three (fallen) standing stones set in a stone
pavement. The true location of this feature has so far eluded archaeologists, but during
the course of this study a re-analysis of Fenton’s description in conjunction with careful
examination of map sources (para 3.37) have indicated that this feature may well have
stood in the same field as PRN 2393, leading to the possibility that the circular earthwork
represents the bank around a now disappeared stone circle or henge. The earthwork is by
far the largest of the four sites on the alignment.

1.4 In addition, the county Sites and Monuments Record includes an entry for a
standing stone (PRN 2398) lying actually within the south-east corner of the proposed
development area. The believed existence of this stone was based entirely on part of
Fenton’s description of the area. Arguments are advanced (para. 3.36 below) that this
stone has been confused with another nearby standing stone, namely PRN 2414. This
latter lay some 200m to the south-east and although it has long since disappeared, was
probably genuine.

1.5 Following the review of the documentary and map sources, a total of nine trial
trenches were opened within the development area. In eight of the trenches there were no
features of any antiquity. On the eastern side of the development area, the topsoil was



found to contain a concentration of largely contiguous quartz stones. Removal by hand of
¢.20 square metres of the quartz concentration produced neither finds which might allow
the feature to be dated, nor any other diagnostic evidence that might indicate whether the
concentration was man-made or natural in origin. The stones lay directly on the subsoil.
Whilst this might normally be taken to indicate that the stones were natural in origin,
topsoil stripping had taken place below two of the nearby barrow mounds prior to their
construction in the Bronze Age. This type of activity, shown to have occurred nearby,
would allow a distinct possibility that the quartz concentration was man-made.. A
consideration of the geomorphology of the area indicates that there are equally plausible
reasons why the quartz concentration could have been deposited naturally at the end of
the fast Ice Age. In view of the lack of any finds or other diagnostic evidence, the nature
of the origin of the quartz concentration remains undecided.



735 INTRODUCTION

2.1~ Pembrokeshire County Council Planning Authority have received an application
for detail planning consent (No. 98/01908/PAY for residéntial development on a green
field site located adjacent (to the west) of 47, Station Road, Letterston at N.G.R. SM 949
299 (Fig. 1). The scheme involves the construction of seven houses set around a new
access road (fig. 2).

2.2 Before the excavation of any trenches for footings or services, the northern part of
the development area will be stn?ped of topsoil and the ground surface will then be
raised with landfill (compare levels on Figs 2 & 3). The plél;pqse of this exercise is to
raise thewgl;e_neral level of the development to allow for sufficient fall in the drainage
system, Whilst the digging of trenches will largely be confined to the immediate vicimty

of the houses and access road, there is some possibility of drainage works being carried
out in the nc;rth east corner of the field at an Pas yet) unspecified [ocation (Liam Siggins,
pers. comm.).

25 ~ The proposed development lies close to the sites of several known important
prehistoric monuments (see section 2). The local Planning Authority therefor attached a
condition to the planning consent requiring that a programme of archaeological works be
agreed before commencement of development on sit€. The purpose of the condition was
to ensure that potentially important archaeological remains were investigated and
recorded before their destruction (4dppendix 3, project brief para. 1.0)

24 Archaeoleg Cambria Archaeology - Heritage Management, acting in their
capacity as archaeological curators and advisors to the Pembrokeshire Planning
Authority, issued a detailed project brief for the proPosed archaeolo%:cal works, The
project brief (dppendix 3, para. 3.3) called for an initial phase of research of all available
documentary evidence for the site followed by field evaluation excavation to assess the
location, extent, degth, nature and condition of any surviving archaeological deposits on
the site in order that a fully informed decision could be made in the review phase about a
mitigation strategy should’such prove necessary or desirable.

2.5  Mr. Liam Siggins, acting as a%e_nt for the landowner, commissioned Cambrian
Archaeological Projects to undertake this preliminary phase of research and evaluation.
This report details the results.



3. THE DESK-BASED ASSE.SSMENT
3A. Introduction

31  The development area lies close to the (original) sites of three round barrows or
rumuli of Bronze Age date (PRN's 2379, 2380 and 2381 below). It is the proximity of the

proposed development to these barrows or burial mounds that necessitated this
archaeological evaluation.

39 The three round barrows have been known collectively in the past as the 'Pendre

Tumuli'. The three barrows were sited at intervals of c. 60m 1n a well-nigh straight line
running southwest-northeast.

3.3 It is now known that a fourth (and larger) circular monument (PRN 2393 below)
lies on the same alignment to the north-east of the rumuli. This and the other sites in the
area are reviewed in section 3C below.

3B. The physical environment

3.4  The three tumuli stood on what was formerly common land on the gentle northern
slope of a patch of high ground, just above the 400" contour and connected with S%?lbll’
Mountain fo the north-east (Fig. 9) by the watershed of two streams. The first of these,
namely the Waun Yswyl (O.S., 7889), used to 'mise’ ¢. 200m to the north of the study area
and then flowed north-westwards past Ridge to Aom the Westen Cleddau. The raiiway
line subsequently followed part of this route and has obscured the southern part of this
stream course (compare Figs. 7 and 8). The other stream rises at the south end of
L etterston station and flows, south-east to join the Afon Anghof and thence the Western
Seddaq. Sgeibir Mountain itself, which rises to 232m, is a western outlier of the Preseli
ountains.

3.5  The study area lies at around N.G.R. SM 949 299 some 350m eastwards from the
Ez_trt of Letterston known as Pendre, through which the main road from Haverfordwest to
ishguard passes. The study area comprises an irregularly shaped field measurin
approximately 110m north-south and between 40 and 80m east-west (Fig. /), the tota

area amounting to approximately 0.7 ha.

3.6  The site was visited prior to research commencing. The minor road leading from
the crossroad at Pendre (i.e., Letterston) to Little Newcastle forms the southern boundary
of the field. On it's western side, the field fronts onto the gardens of properties datmc% to
the mid to late 20th century. To the north lies pasture land and the eastern boundary
comprises various barns and properties dating to the early 20th century.

3.7  The development area was wet to the point of waterlogging qwirg to a very wet
winter. The soil was obviously extremely poor and acid in nature, with free_iron readily
observable in all standing water. About one third of the field was occupied by large
patches of scrub vegetation comprising gorse and brambles in roughly equal proportions
with occasional heather. The intervening clearings were short grass grazed by a pair of
Weish Cob ponies. The overall impression was that the study area comprised a small
patch of moorland soils and vegetation surrounded by recent housing and better grade
pasture land (to the immediate north and south).

3.8 In view of the findings of the evaluation excavation, a brief review of the soils,
parent materials and underlying solid geology is perhaps pertinent in order to clanfy
certain issues for discussionlatér (section 3 below).

3.9  Detailed geological information for the area is not available as the British
Geological Survey has never published the 1 inch or 1:50.000 sheet (theoretically sheet

210). The most detailed geological map information for the immediate area is at scale
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1:250,000 (British Geological Survey/NERC, 1994). This is at present only available in
'solid" edition, i.e., there is unfortunafely no published 'drift' information available.

3.10 Other sources indicate, that the development area (and it's immediate
surroundings) overlies (Flama] drift deposits. These drift deposits are the parent material
for the soils on site and are thus of some importance. The Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map
of 1889 (Pembrokeshire sheet XVI1.3) indicates old gravel pits on the n.ortﬁ east side of
the cross-roads near Pendre at c. N.G.R, 944 298 (some 500m west of the study area).
The excavator of the three tumuli lym% just to the west of the study area encountered a
sandy subsoil with a hard pan on top. Iron-panning and staining was common below all
three mounds (lSavory. 1948 & 1963). The barrow mounds were formed of either subsoil
of sandy and clayey nature, or turves, all of which Savory concluded had been gathered
locally. The Enclosure Act award map of c. 1865 shows three dponds 1n the field to the
immediate east of the study area EF ig. 6?(, the given field name, Claypits Field,
presumably indicates that these were clay workings.

3.11 _ There would thus seem to be a grading of the drift materials. Heavier, coarser
materials seem to occur to the west pear the Pendre crossroad. Sand and clay occur
further eastwards; this probably lmglles water and/or wind sorting in the late Flacml
period. The fact that the materials have been quarried suggests that they are of some

depth.

3.12  The subsoil on the study area proved to be a lgntq/ sligi!(ltly sandy clay. There can
be considerable localised differences in the glacial dnft materials of northem
Pembrokeshire. In the late glacial period, the materials tyﬁlcally emanated from a
veritable 'suite' of volcanic, sedimentary and metamorphic rocks in the St. David's Head
area. These 'short-travelled’ deposits, derived from often fairly soft rocks, have typically
provided much of the smaller texture drift. The presence of ‘far-travelled' drift in the
region is proved by the presence, in amongst the larger materials, of stones and large
erratic boulders from Ireland and south-west Scotland. The most important point is that
the materials are mainly acidic in nature.

1'3.13 The 1:250,000 scale map (British Geological Survey'NERC, [994) shows that the
development area lies over rocks of the Arenig Series whilst the fields of Longstone Farm
(just to the south) lie over rocks of the Llanvirn Series. The junction between the two
series runs east-west just to the south of the road along the southern edge of the study
area, The rock Series can be followed c. 3k westwards where they are mapped in more
detail (British Geological Survey, 1990). Both rock Series are largely sedimentary beds
with some intervening beds of waterlain (i.e., glacially or fluvio-glacially transported
and redegsosned).volcamc materials. Arenig Series strata comprise mainly bluish grey,
silty mudstones interspersed with bands of acid tuffs and keratophyres. The Llanvimn
Senes comprise dark grey mudstones with bands of acid tuffs as” well as extrusive
rhyolitic and dacitic lavas, Just to the west of Letterston, the bed Seres dip to the north at
¢. 30 degrees so that the individual beds lie partly 'on edge' in long stripes running east-
west beneath the dnft deposits; this situation probably occurs below the study area.

3.14 The overlynég' drift materials across the entire area are almost certainly largely
acidic in nature and may vary widely in natural drainage capability. Locally however,
differences in underlying strata may have an important effect on overall ,'tl_lrou%h
drainage' and may, in conjunction with local variations in soil texture and ac1dltt\;, e
sufficient to explain the settlement pattern, e.g. the existence of Longstone Farm by c.
1815 (Fig. -II whilst the area immediately to the north, separated by the junction between
the two geological Series, was a common land (Fig. 4) of apparently impoverished
nature (sée below).

3.15 _The soils of the Letterston area have not been ma‘spped in any fine detail. The only
published information is again at scale 1:250,000 (Sou/ Survey Staff, 1983); at this scale,
considerable generalisation is normal, with smaller areas” of slightly different soils
omitted in order to simplify the map. The soils in the Letterston area are mapped as
typical brown podzolic soils(formerly 'acid brown earths').



3.16 The Soil Survey have defined such soils as:-

i) podzolic s¢ils with a 'Bs' horizon overlying dark brown or ochrous subsoil.
I‘la;}] under semi natural vegetation (as at the study area) such soils can have a humose
'Ah'/Ea’ horizon and an immed:ately underlying Bh horizon (Avery, [1980).

3.17 These soils should not contain a full-blown ‘bleached' albic 'E' horizon (Suil
Survey Staff, 1983 - Avery, 1980). In addition, brown podzolic soils sensu strictu should
not have a peaty topsoil, nor iron pan, nor gleyed honzons, nor prominent 'Bh' horizon,
The top layéer is usually an unincorporated acid organic layer ('F"and 'H' or 'O horizons)
which can be up to 0.4m deep.

3.18 The soil profile actually encountered during the evaluation excavation was both
very thin and fairly uniform ‘across the entire aréa. The total profile from surface to
subsoil ('C' honzo:é was never more than 0.2m deep and generally 0.15m deep. A thin 'F'
horizon overlay a thin 'Ah' (or more strictly 'Ap' horizon 1.e. affected by ploughing - see
next paragrag ) that was usually c.0.1m deep. The bottom of the profile was a thin 'Bs'
horizon c. 0.05m deep featuring %,at the base) widespread iron staining and (locally) thin
iron panning. Locally there was some signs of bleaching, i.e. this latter horizon may be
transitional fo an 'E' horizon.

319 The field was ploughed for the present owner in 1981 and a crop of hay grown
{(Mr. Derek Jones, gers comm). The preparation included copious liming, A fairly good
crop was obtained but the exercise was never repeated due to the difficulfies encountered
during ploughing arising from the shallowness of the profile. The Soil Survey have noted
that brown podzolic soils that have been cultivated may once have been true podzols
{(dvery, 1980, p 49). It is llketlﬂ( that the ploughmg and liming of such a thin_soil was
enough to temporanly reverse the situation here and that the weakly expressed 'E' horizon
and iron panmng/staining indicate that this soil may not be a true brown_podzolic soil,
but rather an improved / altered podzol currently in transition back towards a full blown
podzol. Comparison of aerial photographs shows that a piece of ground on the other
side of the northem boundary of the Stﬁg?{ area was of similar nature in 1955 (Plates 1)
but had been converted to fairly good quality pasture by 1990 (Plates 2).

3C) Sites held on the Sites and Monuments Record (S.M.R.) and previous
archaeological work in the near vicinity

PRN 2379  located at N,G.R. SM 9476 2981 ]

3.20 A round barrow or Tumulus of Bronze Age date lying c. 100m to the WSW of the
study area (Fig. [). Partly excavated by the well known Pembrokeshire traveller and
antiquarian, Richard Fenton around 1806. Re-excavated by Savory in 1946 as his
‘Letterston I'. The mound was c. 23m across and up to_1.2m high. It had been constructed
on top of the old ground surface (Savory, 1948, p. 74 F 1'5. . The barrow mound had
originally been coniained within a near circular wooden wall or fence c. 19m in diameter
and comprised of near contiguous wooden posts set in a palisade or foundation trench c.
0.3m wide and 0.3m_deep. There were no burials or finds in this mound but a pit,
interpreted as a fire pit, was found beneath the mound near the centre. The mound was
made largely of subsoil with patches of topsoil, but probably not turves. There was no
surrounding ditch.

current status- now destroyed.

PRN 2380  located at N.G.R. SM 9479 2987 (Fig. 1)

3.21 A round barrow or Tumulus of Bronze Age date lying c. 60m to the west of the
study area. Partly excavated by Fenton in 1806 gsee SMR/NLW 13237D fol 2). More fully
excavated bg Savory in 1946 as 'Letterston [I' (Savory, 1948). The mound was c. 20m in
diameter and up to 1.8m high. It had been placed directly on the subsoil, i.e., the topsoil
had been removed first (Savory, 1948 p./4 Fig. 4 and text). The primary burial was
found in a pit below the mound slightly off-centre and comprised cremated bone in an
urn of 'gverhanging rim' type (typlcallg mid Bronze Agef). An _area of burnt subsoil and
charcoal in the vicinity was interpreted as the remains of the funeral pyre. A foundation



ot 'palisade’ trench c. 16m in diameter had then been dug to surround the burial and a

wooden fence or wall of round posts constructed in the trench had then been used to

contain the mound. At a slightly later date, three more individuals had been buried in the

mound. All three were cremated, placed in ums of 'overhanging rim' t)dripe and the ums

placed in crude cists formed from mudstone slabs. There was no surrounding ditch.
current status - now destroyed.

PRN 2381  located at N.G.R. SM 9479 2987 (Fég. 1) .

3.22 A very large round barrow or Tumulus of Bronze Age date lying c. 150m to the
south-east of the study area. Partly excavated by Richard Fenton around 1806 (Savory,
1963). Re-excavated by Savory in 1961 as his Letterston IIT'. U?on excavation it proved
to be more complex than the two investigated in 1946. A shallow, outer ring kerb of
quartzite blocks enclosed a circular area of ¢. 34m diameter (Fig. /0). The quartzite
blocks rested directly on the subsoil (Savory, 1963, {: 31 Jﬁ.and it seems that the soil
Froﬁle had been stripped before the kerb was constructed. This appears not to have been
he case below parts of the inner area of quartz pavement (see PRN 9036 below).
Concentrically within the outer ring kerb lay an inner caimn nng_l%n the shape of a thin
'ring-doughnut) and also composed entirely ‘of quartzite blocks. The caimn ring had been
constructed against the individual stones of a stone circle (Fig. /0 and PRN 9036 below).
The stone circle and ring cmrr_n(s? had been deliberately buried in the Bronze Age under a
mound composed almost entirely of thick turves. The resulting mound was c. 36m in
diameter and 1t survived to a maximum height of 1.6m. The only finds indicating a
possible funerary function for this mound were a few fragments of cremated bone and a
couple of fragments of 'overhanging rim' umn; these probably represented a robbed or
disturbed secondary burial. There was no surrounduz; itch. SEE .

Following Savory’s excavation the barrow mound was restored and is a Scheduled
Ancient Monument (SAM Pembrokeshire 062).

PRN 2414  located at N.G.R. SM 9523 2975 (Fig. 9) ]
3.23  The site of a Standing Stone (The Ketch) was recorded by the Ordnance Survey in
the mid 19th century. The stone had been removed by 1889, i.e., before the construction
of the railway (see Fig. 7).

PRN 2393  centred at N.G.R. 9482 2996 (Fig. I)

3.24 Cropmark, located c. 30m to the north of the study area. Unknown type/date, but
circular and 50-60m in diameter. Land ploughed sinceé 1946 (actually since 1953 -
compare plates | and 2). The Ordnance Survey record card noted ggssxble traces of other
cropmarks to east and north-east. See section 3E below for updated information.

PRN 2398  located at N.G.R. 9493 2985 o

3.25 Site of Standing Stone &Letterston Common) reputedly within the south-east
corner of the development area. Probably Bronze Age. New evidence regarding this site
is given in section 3E below.

PRN 903¢  located under PRN 2381 at N.G.R. 9473 2976

3.26 A Neolithic Stone Circle or 'Henge' found below the largest round barrow (PRN
2381 above). Comprising, 20 stones set out in a roughly ovoid arrangement (Fig. 70)
circa 40 feet across. Typical of a type of monument common in Wales and known as
embanked stone circles, 1t's "type sife” is "Druid's Circle”" at Penmaenmawr, Caemarvon.
At Letterston, the area between the standing stones had been Eaved with a thin spread of
quartzite. The excavator noted a thin layer of milky clay beneath parts of the outer
margins of the quartz pavement (Fig. /0) which he interpreted as a buried soil. On the
other hand the more central areas ot the paving rested directly on the subsoil and that
author speculated that the tpavement had been disturbed and the old soil profile removed
gt}g)r to the construction of the overlying mound (i.e., SMR PRN 2381) (Savory, /963, p

3).

The'site is now part of scheduled ancient monument Pembrokeshire SAM 062.

PRN 2394  located at N.G.R. 9375 2948 (Fig. 9) ] _
3.27 Earthwork. 7Bronze Age / Tmedieval, Lying to south of Letterston village green, it
is ¢, 100m in diameter and up to 1.2m hllgh; there is some indication of an associated
ditch surviving. Opinion is divided. The Pembrokeshire Archaeological Survey (1898)



considered it to be ‘clearly a tumulus’. The Ordnapce Survey have recorded it ns a
possible (Bronze A;irex barrow. RCHMW have considered it to be a ‘motte in the las
stages ol decay' (RCTIMIV, [1926). The field name on the 1844 Tithe map is "Parc Moal”

3D) More recent archaeological sites and map evidence

PRN 10472 (Good Hope)  located at N.GLR, 9541 2960

3.28 A boundary ditch / boundary stonc of believed imedicval date are poted near the

southern tip of Lelterston Station” An examination of recent map evidence (/g ‘—'{

. 'llnﬁhc]gteslil)n area of relic medieval strip fields to the north-east {around Garreg-Wen ang
e Ketch).

3.29  Until the early 20th century, the viIInF,c af Letterston was larpely confined to the
area west of the crossroad at Pendre. The field layout arpund that part of the vitlage
indicates large-scale survival of a rclic medieval strip ficld system. The present church
contains a stone cross of possible 15th centur?r date. but the existing building was erected
in 1881, lnkmlg, the l"’lace of one bhuilt about the year 1844 (RC] IM’W, 1926). The chuich
of the vill of Lettard was ‘ljgr;mlcd to the Knights of St. John of Jerusalem of Slcheeh, by
Ivo, the son of Lettard and is mentioned later in records of 1332 (RCHMW,_ 1926). The
medieval church was probably sited about Tkm to the west near llen Eglwys Farm

3.30 Recent research has thrown further light on the origins of medieval seftlement at

Letterston (Kissock, 1997). It is possible that the pre-Norman. or late Welsh village lay at

the west end in the vicinily of Court Farm / Great Letterston Farm / llen Eglwys: To the

immediate east of this, a planned settlement compnising two_carefully laid out rows of
roperties facing each other, was 'planted’ in the early medieval pertod. This planned
ayout is still detectable today. Kissock's research has outlined the way in which such
!Ianled settlements were masterminded by a class of medieval entreprenéur, titled by him
ocatores',

3.3t The basic idea was that the Jocarores, working hand in glove with the fanly
recently arrived Norman conquerors, would find prospective colonists and move them to
a new settlement, acting in effect as recruitment agenis for planned colonisation. The
terms were refatively simple; land and relief/fexemplion from certain forms of lax and
feudal dug, essenhall¥ a sorl of medieval 'New Deal’. This type of aclivity was
widespread throughout large areas of Europe, The downside was normally that the areas
were relatively new conguests and prohale not too safe, it being hoped that the
colonists, tn seeking to cling onto their new Tand, might act as wnofTtcial (and unpaid)
local defence force.

332 In Pembrokeshire, the activities, of the locatores led to a mass influx of
Flemmings, probably initially resulting from problems connected with sea Mlooding m
their own homeland. Locally, locatores such_as leitard (who founded medicval
Letterston), Wizo and Tancard were probably Flemmings themselves. Letterston was
[)Ianted in the early 12th century and sits righf on the Landsker. One can only visualise
he occasional hasty retreats resulting from the various Welsh attempts to recoup lost
round. The new inhabitants only comfort mlshl have been the presence of a “'molte and
atley’ castle near the v:llaﬁe reen (PRN 2394), if that earthwork was a motile. As this
village was right out on the Tront line, one can only speculate as to the wisdom of
altempting to defend such a structure in the face of serious Welsh attack. This 'New Deal’
was not Tor the feint hearted. Nonetheless, it scems to have worked and the new
population of Letterston were apparently there to stay.

3.33  As noted by Kissock (/997), Letterston village has leapfrogged the main A40 in
recent years (see I'te. 7). The map evidence shows that the study arca lay towards the east
end of the common land as depicted on map surveys of 1815 and 1844. "There was partial
enclosure of Letterston Common by Act of Parliament of 1865, but the study area was
not part of this enclosure ﬁsc’e IFig.”6). The northern and southcrn boundaries had been
created by 1907 but the field was never enclosed as such; it's present size and shape have
been credted by a process in which various boundaries of largely 20th century date have




encroached onto it from the east and west (Figs. 7, 8 and 9). The coming of the railway
in the closing years of the last century led to the formation of a new settlement nucleus
by the station (after the area was first mapped by the Ordnance Surveﬁ)?. Subseguently,
sporadic housing grew along the road back towards Pendre before 1907 (Fig. &§). This
;IJrocess accelerated from 1950 onwards, resulting in a classic ribbon development (Figs.

and 9). None of the buildings now present around the periphery of the study area
existed until after 1907. The currently proposed development represents further infill
within the terms of the local plan.

3.34 The available aerial photographs (pflutes | and 2) show no definite features or
sites of any interest on the development area, although one of the evaluation trenches was
sited to investigate a_vague circular ‘bleached’ area visible in 1955 (Plate 7). Two
circular marks are visible to the north-east of PRN 2393 on oblique aenal photographs
taken in 1990 (marked as ?cropmark and ?earthwork on Plate 2). These are small
{possibly 5-8m in diameter) and should be treated with caution as they may be the result
of modérn farming, e.g., cattle feed troughs. The Ordnance Survey have noted other
cropmarks to the €ast and north-east of PRN 2393 (see para. 3.24 above). This author
can only assume that these were seen on photographic prints from reconnaissance sorties
not available through the normal sources.

3E) The desk-based assessment - discussion

3.35 In general, the assessment has turned up no new information regarding the three
barrows excavated by Dr. Savory. Re-examination of documentary sources which were,
in the main, familiar to previous researchers, has allowed some ré-interpretation of two
of the prehistoric monuments in the vicinity, namely PRN 2598 and PRN 2393.

PRN 2398

3.36 The existence or otherwise of this standing stone is somewhat critical to this study
as the location stated on the county Sites and Monuments Record places the monument at
the south-east corner of the proposed development area, Evidence for this stone rests on a
single source, namely Fenton (7our %f Pembrokeshire, 1811, p 188) who noted an upright
stone at the ‘south east extremity of Letterston Common which gives the name Longstone
to the adjoining farm'. An Ordnance Survey record card states that Fenton recorded this
stone separatel% 'from the other stones' (but see the 'trilithon' in para. 3.27 below). This
has apparently been taken to mean that this stone was not the stone known as 'the Ketch'
Sl._e., 2414), but a second standing stone. Two pertinent facts have emerged from

Is assessment:-

Common lay some 200 metres to the east-south-east (down by the location
e railway station - see Figs. 4 and 3A). The comer of the common
approached it's current position as a result of the Enclosure Act of 1865 (Fig. 6).

% At the time that Fenton recorded the stone, the south-east corner of the
0s
of th

b.i) In additioh, Longstone Farm was apparenttly moved in the mid 19th
century. As this building formed an integral part of Fenton's description of the

location, then it's true location, circa 1806 1s of some importance.

b.ii) Examination of the Tithe Map and Schedule (Figs. 54 and 5B) shows that
an un-named building (No. 295) existed at the location of Longstone Farm today.
But Longstone Farm is specifically named on the Tithe schedule as occupyin
lot 277 {c. 200m to the south of PRN 2414). The house on plot 277, along wi
e house marked 286 (%‘7 iﬁ' JA) are not shown on the 1865 enclosure map nor on
the Ordnance Survey 1:2500 of 1889, so were probably demolished.

h.iiib There is however one possible groblem. Examination of a larger area of
the rdna._nce.Surve]y draw1nth of c. 1814/5 (part shown on Fig. +4) shows that
when putting in the Tettering for individual farms, by convention, the draughtsmen
either wrote rightwards away from the property or’leftwards towards it. [n either
case, the lettering is level with the building, oot undemeath it (as would be the



case if Longstone Farm' were the same building as plot 295 in 1844)
Examination of the lettering for ‘Longstone’ on Fig. 4 would seem to indicate that
in c.1815, it was not the bulldmgrat Tithe glot 0. 277 (as it was in 1844) but
rather the building shown later as Tithe No. 286 (Fig. 34).

b.iv) Despite the possible confusion of location outlined in paras. b.ii) and b.iii)
above, it is clear that the information in para. a) 1s rehable. The extreme south-
east corner of the Rhos Common was by the Ehﬁlture] railway station and PRN's
%_39_22_ and 2414 are almost certainly one and the same stone, 1.e., PRN 2398 1s
ictitious.

PRN 2393
3.37 The 'cropmark’ was discovered on aerial photographs (see plates | and 2). The
Sites and Monuments Record seems to lack some useful pieces of information, namely:-

a)  This site survives as a standin% earthwork in recently improved pasture
land; it is not a true cropmark. From the lane to the east, it can be seen that the
eastern side of the monument comprises a grassed bank ¢. 0.5m high. There 1s
possibly an external ditch (this would require closer inspection).

b.i% [n the entry in the Pembrokeshire Inventory for the Pendre Tumuli
(RCHMW, 1926), it was noted that Richard Fenton reférred to three upright stones
set in an area of stone paving (Tour, 1811, % 3+40). The Royal Commission
thought that this triple stone Teature was probably about 600 ')J/%_rds east of the
barrows (RCHMW, 1926, p.145). They later postulated that the three stones were
a Trilithon similar to others noted as outlyers to Irish/Ulster stone circles and also
known in Wales, e.g., Llanfechel, Anglésey (O.S. record card held at S.M.R.).
Savory suggested that this ‘trilithon’ feature may have been no further than 50
yards from his Barrow III (1963, p. 323).

b.ii) Savory and others have experienced difficulties in placing some of
Fentons sites as he was often not terribly precise in his description of location. It
is probably worth reproducing Fenton's original description here for it does throw
some light on the marter.

tumuli, and another, the largest, just within an’enclosure, on the edge of it to the right;
on the left side of the common thére were, till within these few years, in an enclosed teld
three upright stones (meini hirion) placed triangularly, and bedded in a pavement,
perhaps with reference to the three neighbouring tumuli, as if it were here the heroes
interred in them might have dfallen. One of the stones has been removed for a guate-post,
and the other two overturned, the largest about 10 feet long.

'On an open common, skirting the road exactly oprposite to this village, there are two
o

b.iii% Both Savory and the Royal Commission author used the Tithe Survey map
of 1844 in their attemnpts to unravel the mystery. Neither author appears to have
seen the unpublished Ordnance Survey drawing of c. 1815 (Fig. 4). This 1s a
useful starting point because it at least confirms that the extent and shape of the
common had not changed between 1815 and 1344, i.e. the tithe map almost
certainly shows the common pretty much as it would have been in Fenton's day.

b.iv)  Firstly, the issue of compass direction, i.e., is Fenton's 'left' actually north
or vica versa. Here, the tumuli come in handy. He stated that two were on the
common. The third barrow lay in an enclosed field "on the edge of it (i.e. the
commen) to the right". There was a_small portion of the common to the
immediate west of Savory's barrow [II (Fig.  4) m 1815 and 1844. Most
lmponanﬂy, Fenton stated that it was the largest; it must therefor be Savory's
barrow III (PRN 2381). The other two ("on the common") must be Savory's
barrows [ and II (PRN 2379 and 2380). This means that his ‘right’ was south and
his left' north, i.e., he is describing [ocations as though looking eastwards from
the cross-roads at Pendre; this would be entirely logical. As the three stones lay to
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3F.
3.38

the left of the common, then they must have been to the north of the track or road.
This would also argue against Savory's interpretation that the stones were 50
yards or less from his barrow IIT (PRN"2381) as nowhere that close to that barrow
could fairty be described as being on the 'left' or north side of the common.

b.v) Dis-assembling the rest of Fenton's descrniption, it can be seen that it
obviously places the stones somewhere in the vicinity of the three tumuli
excavated by Savory. The term 'neighbouring' is vague but probably dismisses the
Royal Commission author's attemgt to place the stones 600 yards eastwards
(presumably in the region of PRN 2414, the Ketch).

b.vi) Fenton speciﬁcalIX_ stated that the stones were in an enclosed field on the
left side of the common. This indicates that they were definitely not on the Rhos

ommon. It could be taken to imply that the said 'enclosed field' was either
adjacent to or at least close to the common on the north side.

b.vii) Interestingly enough, the probable exglanatlon was probably contained in
the original Royal Commussion entry (of 1926) all along, Here, they noted that
"the field immediately to the north of the tumuli is called in the Tithe Schedule
SNo. 574), 'Parc_cerrig hirion™ or ‘Park of the long stones’ (RCHMW, 1926, p.

45). Indeed it is (Figs. 34, 5B & then Fig. 6 for location of PRN 2393). The
above arguments may fall short of absolute proof that the threg stones lay in this
ttl]e}d,lbutthopetully demonstrate that this tield is certainly a likely candidate for
their location.

b.viii} Neither the Royal Commission field surveyors nor Savory had sight of the
Meridian Airmaps aerial photographs (taken in [955) otherwise this site would
have been 'flagged up' long ago. Perhaps more curtous is that the earthwork.
w}lngh is egsnly visible at ground level, remained undetected until spotted on aerial
photographs.

b.ix) There would seem to be several possible interpretations for this
monument, depending on the precise original location of the (now disappeared)
stones. 1) PRN 2393 s a henge and the ‘tnlithon’ and gavmg represent part of a
stone circle within the surviving earthwork (see PRN 9036 for lmmedlatelg local
Rarallel for the qavmg and also an 'embanked' stone circle). Zf PRN 2393

enge and the tnlithon was an outlirer as postulated by the Royal Commission. 3)
In the 'worst case scenario’, PRN 2393 is not a henge at all and the stones were
not actually in this field.
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b.x) Assuming, for a moment, that PRN 2393 is a henge and the three stones
were part of a stone circle within it, then as the circular earthwork is roughly 635
metres in diameter (measured from aerial photographs) and the stones gosmbly
stood nearly 3m high (Fenton, tham. _b.i1 above), this would have been an
impressive monument,,probabllﬁq e main ritual monument or centre in the area.
The excavated stone circle (PRN 9036) may have may have been contemporary
with this earthwork or perhaps have pre-dated it; if not PRN 9036 would have
been merely a satellite to it. The burial mounds would, according to known
typologies and chronologies, be later additions to the complex.

The desk-based assessment - conclusions

An important complex of ritual/ceremonial and bural sites dating to the late

Neolithic and/or Bronze Age lies 50-100m to the west of the study area. Three of the four
components of the compléx have been excavated. It should bé noted that despite the
importance of this complex, the only artefacts recovered from the (la;ﬁely complete

excavations of three barrows were four intact Bronze Age ums and

el assoclate

cremations from Barrow II and remnants of a similar burial at barrow III. Grave goods
were rare and 'non-funerary' material notable by it's absence.



3.39  For reasons outlined in section 3A above, it is likely that the most desirable areas
for settlement and a%nculture have always lain further away around the areas occupied
later by the medieval fields of the main village c. 500m_to the west and also around
Ketch Farm' ¢. 500m to the east of the study area. Map evidence indicates that the Rhos
Common existed before 1815 and the podzolised and acidic nature of the soils indicate
that, as moorland, it may be of much geater age. Evidence of turf and soil stripping for
construction of the local burial mounds in the Bronze Age indicate that this was poor,
perhaps even 'scrap' land as early as the prehistoric period. Nonetheless, it has probably
always been a useful resource as rough grazing.

3.40 None of the documentary sources, maps or aerial photographs examined revealed
any new sites on the development area or indeed any entirely new (i.e. unknown) sites in
thé immediate vicinity.



4. THE FIELD EVALUATION
4A. Methodology

4.1 Cambrnan Archaeological Projects first submitted a formal project design for
ﬁproval by the curatorial service  (Archaeoleg Cambria Archaeology - Heritage

anagement). A provisional agreement was reached between the curatonal service and
Cambnan Archaeological Projects that 6 trenches, each measmngl%{in by 20m, would be
excavated within the main part of the development area. s would represent
approximately a 5% sample of the total area.

42 One of the terms of this provisional agreement was that the final location of the
individual trenches within the development area was to be agreed with the curatoral
service after completion of the documentary research. This approach allowed for a more
informed decision to be made concerning the best locations for the trenches, In the event,
a revised scheme using nine trenches was proposed by this author on behalf of Cambrian
Archaeological Projects and accepted by Archaeoleg Cambria Archaeology - Heritage
Management. The new scheme gave a slightly increased overall trench area and a better
coverage of the development area. The french layout was deliberately biased to give
slightly better coverage on the western side of the study area, i.e., the area closest to the
lg:n?wn prehistoric monuments. Trench dimensions and sizes are given in section 4B
elow.

43.  In accordance with the project brief, context records were kept for all significant

contexts {1.e. layers and features), numbers in brackets in this report refer to context

Eumbclell's alll30cated during the excavation and correspond to the same layers etc. shown in
1igs. 11 -

44  The provisional %%reement allowed for the removal of topsoil and other
overburden by machine. The trenches were stripped using a JCB with 3 foot toothless
ditching bucket.

4.5  Following the removal of topsoil by machine, the trenches were cleaned and
hotographed (colour slide, colour print and monochrome pnint). The more relevant
eatures within each trench were photographed.

46  Where approgriate, accurate plans were made of features and layers at a scale of
1:20 (Fig. 12); 1t should be noted that trenches that contained either no significant
features or no features at all (i.e. trenches | - 7) were planned at scale 1:50 and have
largely not been reproduced here. A trench location plan was drawn at 1:250. The trench
sections were largely uninformative and thus drawn at scale 1:50. A small selection of
these stect]é)ns are reproduced here to give a representation of the soil profile
encountered.

4.7  The only artefacts consisted of sherds of pottery and pieces of bottle dating to the
late 19th or early 20th century; these were not kept. No contexts were obsérved that
would have yielded any useful dating or environmental samples; no samples were taken.

4.8  The fieldwork was undertaken between the 17th and 24th of February 1999. The
site code was 37104 (an ACA-HM Project No. in compliance with the project brief). The
site archive will be held at the Pembrokeshire Museum (Scolton Manor).

4B. The archaeological features

49 The fol.lo_wing soil profile was removed by machine from trenches 1-7. To avoid
needless repetition for each trench it will be described pnl)ll here. The topsoil {01)
comprised a litter (F') horizon c. 0.02-0.05m deep below whichlay an 'Ah' or 'Ap' horizon
of dark grey-brown, gritty, sandg, loamy clay between 0.08 and 0.10m deep. This had a
fairly sharp boundary downwards to a thin Bs' horizon (sometimes a weak 'E' horizon -



see paras. 3.18 and 3.19) up to 0.05m deep and usually with iron staining at it's base to
the underlying 'C' horizon (03). This latter was invaniably a reddish-yellow, gritty, sandy

clzgl featuring ¢. 10% small pieces of abraded (and disintegrating) mudstones, siltstones
an

nd shales (i.e., highly weathered drift). Larger stones of these rock types (up to 0.1m in
sme{ occurred Tocally ut were rare. Most notably, subsoil (03) typically contained c. 2%
small, sub-angular quartzite varying from 0.02m-0.12m in size. Carger pieces of quartzite
occurred in nearly all trenches but were rare.

Trench 1 dimensions:- 20m SE-NW by 2m E-W

4.10  With the topseil profile (0 IJ / (02) removed, the following features were exposed.
A linear cut (04) c. 2.5m wide and 0.4m deep ran parallel to the hedgerow at the south
end of the trench (Fig. /2). The upper fill was (01} below which the cut was filled with
mid-grey, silty clay {05). This_lower fill produced numerous modem finds, especially
from just above the subsoil(03). The feature was beyond doubt associated with the
hedgerow and in use in the earlier part of the present century.

4.11  Slightly to the north lay a complex of intersecting pits, all containing fairly
modern _pottery and glass. On the west side of the trench, a small shallow, pit (08) that
was c. 0.7m in diameter and 0.2m deep and filled with light grey-brown sandy claty 073
was cut by a larger (and slightly deeper) pit %06} lymﬁ mainly just to the easi {an

containing a similar fill). Another, larger pit, (09), cut both features and extended for
some 3m turther northwards; it was likewise filled with light grey-brown sandy clay (10).

4.12  Further northwards, a large patch of very light grey sandy clay (12) with
occasional patches of charcoal flecking lay within an ‘outline” of thin, hard, ifon-pan Sil 1).
This proved to be no more than 0.1m deep and had almost certainly been created by
gorse burning, the heat precui;natmg alteration and leaching of iron - in effect a patch of
man-made 'E' horizon,” Further northwards, two similar patches of verg light grey
"subsoil” (contexts (14) and (16), see Fig. /2), were likewise surrounded by thin ifon-
pans (contexts (13) and (15) respectively) and were almost certainly produced by the
same agency. There were no other features.

Trench 2 dimensions:- 10.3m N-S by 2m E-W

4.13 A group of three small patches of light grey sandy clay (17) located towards the
north end of the trench proved to be very shallow and almost certainly similar in type to
those described in para. 4.12 above. There were no finds and no other features.

Trench 3 dimensions:- 10m N-S by 2m E-W

4.14 A very narrow linear feature (18) located at the south end of the trench was
investigated but produced no finds. The fill (19) was essentially the same as the overlying
‘Ah' horizon. This was undoubtedly a plough furrow created by machine cultivation in
1981. There were no finds and no other features.

Trench 4 dimensions:- 19m NW-SE by 2m

4.15 A strip of bright yellow subsoil (20), that was fairly uniformly 1m wide, crossed
the trench towards the south-east end. A small section placéd across the strip showed it to
be merely a cleaner, more sterile area of subsoil. The feature ran in the direction of the
slightly lower ground to the north-east and the most likely explanation was that it had
been a shallow run-off channel in the late glacial pertod which had subsequently filled up
with other drift material not long after the channel had being formed. Elsewtiere in the



trench a few small ]l)atches of grey sandy clay proved to be velar shallow pockets of 'E'
horizon {similar to (17) - see para.”4.13)."There were no finds and no other features.

Trench 5 dimensions:- 21m NW-SE by 2m

4.16 The only man-made feature was a shallow cut (21) c. 2.5m wide that ran parallel

to the hedgerow that formed the northern boundarY of the field. The uppermost 0.1m of

fill was {01) below which was a light grey sandy clay (22) also c. 0.1m deep. There were

no finds from this feature, but the similanities in position, orientation, width and depth to

ditch (04) in trench | (para. 4.]03 tgrobal')ly indicate that this was likewise a ditch dug

%lodngs%de ltge hedge in the early 20th century (probably partly to provide material for the
edge bank).

Trench 6 dimensions:- 20m N-§ by 2m E-W

4.17 Examination of the aerial photographs had revealed only one anomaly worth
investigating. This trench was glaced across the location of a rou],f%9 ly circular parchmark
c. 10-15m in diameter and visible on aerial photographs taken c. 1955 (Plare I).

4.18 The only man-made feature was a shallow scoop or pit (23) that was ¢. 1.5m
across and 0.1m deep. The fill (24) was a light grey-brown sandy clay i24). This
contained numerous pieces of rusty iron, probably all nails and bolts of fairly modern
date. There were no other finds.

Trench 7 dimensions:- [0m E-W by 2m N-§

4,19 A large quartzite boulder c. 0.5m wide, 0.55m deep and 0.8m long lay in the
eastern half of the trench. Unfortunately this had not been visibie on the surface and was
npged_ out by the machine. Examination of the resultant 'socket' showed that the stone
had lain flat'and was set ¢. 0.4m into the subsoil (i.e., was 'subsoil-fast' and not set in a
man-made cut) thus indicating that it was a natural glacial erratic.

420 Examination of the same socket also indicated that the gri%y orange/reddish-
ellow sand cla{\;isubsml (03) encountered in all of the trenches was 0.35m deep at this
ocation and confained small quartz stones throughout it's profile. Below this, the subsoil

was bright yellow clay (28) with c. 10% small stones; worthy of note is that the stones in

this lower subsoil did not appear to include quartz, i.e., the source of the dnft materials
was probably different.

421 A small shallow ‘cut' or depression 526) c. 0.4m across and located by the north-
east corner of the erratic boulder was filled with dark brown 'Ah' horizon type material
(27). This feature was tﬂrobably a tree stump hole (or, more likely, gorse stump). There
were no finds and no other features.

Trench 8 dimensions:- 10m E-W by 2m N-§

422 = Beneath the 'F' or litter horizon (at a depth of c. 0.05m) the 'Ah' honizon l_(t.?.S"')
contained freqi.lent small &uartz, perhaps 20% by volume, although this Fropo ion
thinned gradually towards the west end of the trench where quartz was virtually absent.
In the light of what had been encountered in trench 9, it was felt that this spread of quartz
might be man-made and so the trench was initially machined down onto the top of the
quartz 'spread’. A strip, lm wide and adjacent to the north trench edge, was subse%lently
machined to the subsoil. There were no finds and no features were found either cutting or
sealed below layer (29).
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423  Part of a small linear feature was exposed at the extreme north-west comer of the
trench. The trench was extended by hand to investigate this (£ ig: I2) 1t ;roved to be the
southernmost of three shallow, parallel, linear gullies varying from 0.35-0.5m in width,
The gullies were ¢. 0.05m deep and filled with 'Ah' horizon type tolpsml (31) and
separated by very narrow ridges of subsoil (03). The features were almost certainly
modern plough marks.

Trench 9 _ dimensions:- 14m E-W by 2m N-S and extension 0.8m wide for
10m to north (Fig. 12).

424 This trench contained the only feature that might have been prehistoric,
Machining began at the east end of the trench and strall%,ht away revealed a hard packed
layer of concentrated quartz (32) in a matrix of dark grey-brown sandy clayey 'Al’
horizon. The top of quartz la%er (32) was immediately below the modern ground surface
at a depth of no more than 0.03m.” The machining then followed the top of this layer
westwards. The quartz thinned visibly towards the west, petering out altogether some 4m
short of the western end of the trench’

425 In order to assess the extent of the quartz spread, the top of layer (32) was
exposed by machine in a narrow trench running for 10.5m northwards from the east end
of the original trench. The thickest concentration of quartz lay at the south. From about
2m northwards the quartz thinned visibly, petering out about 2m from the northern end of
the trench. Qutside of the trench, there were indications on the ground surface that the
quartz extended for c. 10m to both the south and east of the trench. It would thus appear
that the quartz spread was either circular or sub-square in plan and ¢. 20m across in each
direction.(see Fig. 11). This observation is somewhat tentative and should be taken as a
provisional estimate.

426 A section line was placed E-W down the centre of the main E-W trench and the
quartz layer was removed by hand from the area to the north of the section line. This
revealed that layer S32) was about 0.05m deep at the eastern end of the trench and lay on
top of a very thin layer of greyish sandy clay (33), the light colour probably resulting
from leach_lglg. Below lay another layer of quartz (34), again in a matrix of 'Ah' horizon

e material (Fig. /3). Layer (34) was_pressed onto but not into) the top of the subsoil

); at this location, the subsoil contained very little quartz. The overall Iproﬁlc though
the ‘quartz spread down to the top of the subsoil ' was no deeper than the soil profile in any
of the other trenches.

427 To the west, the quartz thinned (becoming layer (35) on Fig. 12). The %'unction
between layers (32)/(34) and (35) was somewhat vague but appeared to occur at around
the same location as a scattered trail of slightly larger quartz stones (40). At first it was
thought that these might be a kerb, but upon investigation they proved to be the packing
stones of a posthole (56) that was cut thrmégh layer (32). A section placed across posthole
36) proved it to be 0.4m in diameter and 0.4m deep (Fig. /3). The bottom layer was
irty subsoi} (37). Above, a layer of very %ea_u%, brown sandy clay (38) lay around the
edge in the form of a steep bowl containing bright yellow clayey redeposited subsoil (39).
The quartz stones (40) _l?/m on top of this a%)eared to be packing partly buried below
more redelpos_lted subsoil (41). Stones (40) had probably been dragged by the ploughing
of the field in 1981, There were no finds, but a possible indication” of the date o
posthole _(362 was &rovnded c. 7m to the east of trench 9 where another posthole (42) was
clearly visible on the ground surface. It comprised an air void c. 0.15m square and 0.3m
deep Surrounded by bright yellow redeposited clayey subsoil. The air void indicates that
it was a verg recént feature (see also para. 3.13.C). Posthole (36) may have had it's
rotting cone deliberately backfilled with'stones and subsoil, i.e., contexts (%0)/(41).

"



428 The remainder of the main E-W arm of the trench was subsequently entirely
stripped by hand to the top of the subsoil (03). There were no finds and no other features
although a small group of 'subsoil-fast’ quartz stones was revealed below (35) near the
middle of the trench and a single, larger piece of quartz near the west end.” All were
undoubtedly natural 'erratics’.

429 Over much of l_arigfr (32), the quartz pieces, ranging in size from 0.02m (large
gravel) to 0.1m, were virfually contiguous when in siru. A snmdple experiment was devised
fo test the relative proportions of quartz to soil in the more densely concentrated area at
the east end of the trench. A single bucket sample of layers (32) and (34) was quickly
washed clean of soil matrix. The quartz was then placed back in the bucket and the
bucket filled with water. The water was then poured off into another bucket of identical
size where it could be seen from the water level that the soil would have occupied c. 60%
of the layers by volume (and the quartz thus c. 40%).

|



5. DISCUSSION

5.1 A standing stone (PRN 2398) was believed to have stood within the development

area but analysis of documentary sources undertaken in the course of this study indicate
that this stone probably never existed (para. 3.36). Archaeological excavations in 1948
and 1963 of three mounds just to the west of study area proved them to be round barrows
of Bronze Age date; a stone circle of probable late Neolithic date lay beneath the
southernmost barrow. A fourth site lying to the north-east was first recognised on aenial
photographs. A re-examination of the documentary and map sources conducted as part
of this study has found some indications that this fourth monument maaf be a larger, but
as yet unproved, ritual monument of late Neolithic date lying a mere 20-30 metres north
of the development area (para. 3.37). If this identification were to prove correct, then the
elements of this prehistoric complex already proven by excavation may well have been
merely satellites to the fourth site,

5.2~ Excavations at and around similar prehistoric sites both in Wales (e.g. Briggs, S.
Jforthcoming, Williams, G. 1989) and er afield in Britain have shown that stone
circles, henges, standing stones and barrows were commonly focal centres around which
all sorts of other activity took place, such activity commonly involving ancill
structures, burials and deposition of other materials in pits. This acfivity, probably largely
'ritual’ in nature, can be extensive e.g. Balfarg, Fife where large-scale ‘area excavations
found such activity extending for several hundreds of metres away from the main sites
(Barclay and Russell-White, [993).

5.3 The magst surprising result of the current evaluation is therefor the apparent lack
of an% sign of such activity within the study area. There was not a single_feature of
provable prehistoric date; the occasional patches of charcoal flecked subsoil could be
seen to have resulted from gorse burning of probably recent date. It should be stressed
that the area sampled by the evaluation trenches comprised no more than 5% of the total
study area. There were no stray finds (e.g. of flint waste or toolsi?1 recovered from any of
the nine trenches, but then Savory's extensive excavations of the barrows to the west
produced almost no artefacts apart from the cremation burials and their associated grave
goods; the lack of stray prehistoric artefacts on the study area is therefor not necessarily a
reliable indicator of absence of activity.

5.4 The very thin and i_mﬁoverishgd nature of the soil _Proﬁle on the study area makes
it likely that any large ditches or pits filled with topsoil type material would show as
darker ‘stains on aerial photographs even though the field has never been photographed
whilst under crop, no definite features show on the aenal photographic coverage
available for study.

5.5 The only feature encountered of any note was a shallow quartz spread (32)/(34)
/(35) in trench 9. A less concentrated variant (29) was found some 30m to the north in
trench 8. These quartz spreads yielded no finds which would allow them to be dated nor
indeed any indication as to whether they were man made or natural; their interpretation
is crucial to the objectives of this study. The remainder of this discussion will therefor
aftempt to examine criteria that might allow interpretation one way or the other.

1) The quartz spreads:- A) reflect typical Bronze Age activi)
) quarzsp Bd aig nat?t’rl':zl because thdg) sit diregly on the subsoil.

5.6 ~ Stone spreads commonly feature as areas of cobbling and paving at stone circles
(Burl, 1976, ﬁ 232{Nand other prehistoric sites, locally for example around a standing
stone at Stackpole Warren (Current Archaeology, 82, 1982 p.337 -80). One thing is
certain. These spreads cannot be the remnants of the pavement associated with the
'fgn{ghon' feature (para. 3.37 above) as Fenton stated that this lay within an enclosed
ield.
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5.7 _ The vast majority of Bronze Age barrows sit on top of a buried soil profile, i.e,
were built straight on top of the existing ground surface. The quartz spreads in trenches 8
"and 9 did not bury an old ground surface but lay within_ the existing Eo )soil_profile and
sat directly on top of the subsoil. There was no deepening of the topsoil profile at either
location that mlgﬁt indicate that significant quantities of material had been imported.

5.8 In many areas of Britain, this might allow us to dismiss these quartz spreads as
natural features but a minornty of excavated barrows have been found to have been built
directly on top of the subsoil, the old soil profile having been removed first. This form of
activity, belngl entirely destructive, generally tended to take place on land of poorer
quality probably around the periphery of settlements. The poor nature of the soils found
on the study area would certainly conform with this idea. In addition, the thin and
impoverished nature of the buried profiles found to the west by Savory below a) barrow |
and b) the paving around the stone circle PRN 9036 indicate that the soils in the area
were probably virtually useless by the early Bronze Age.

5.9  Two of the best known examples of this practice of topsoil stripping occurred less
than 100m to the west of the study area; a brief review of the evidence may be in order:-

PRN 2379 - Savory’s Barrow | - built of subsoil (not turves). Buried soil profile intact
below (para. 3.20 above).

PRN 2380 - Savory’s Barrow [I- built of turves. Topsoil profile removed prior to
construction (pura. 3.21 above).

PRN 9036 - Barrow Il ?Neolithic lphqse - stone circle. The inner quartzite paved area
was apparently laid over the original soil profile (para. 3.22 above).

PRN 2381 - Barrow [l - Bronze Age phase - outer ning cain built entirely of 'selected'
quartzite; the old soil profile was removed first. The central part of the area of quartzite
paving from PRN 9036 was 7lifted and the original soil grqﬁle removed from there as
wgll. ) ¢ overlying large barrow mound was entirely built from turves (para. 3.26
above).

5.10 Savory concluded that quite a sizeable area was stripped of turf/topsoil to provide
construction materials for Barrow 11I; this area may have inciuded the current study area.

2) The quartz spreads contain no other rock types and indicate deliberate selection of
materials by man.

5.11 There seems to have been deliberate selection of quartz as a construction material
at PRN's 2381 and 9036. Savory noted that "the deliberate selection of white quartz for
the construction at least of the surface layers of cairns is_a well known feature of the
early Bronze Age in Wales and no doubt arises from the effect produced from a distance
bhy the gleaming white stones" (1963, p 314). Excavations elsewhere in the years since
that staiement was made have found numerous other examples of such selectivity, with
quartz being used falrlﬁ_lwndely across Britain. In areas where quartz is rare, it's presence
can be taken to mean that some effort has been J)ut into sourcing and transporting it. At

Letterston, for reasons outlined below, this would not apply.

3) The quart; spreads are entirely natural in origin

5.12  Quartz/quartzite occurs naturally in the local drift at a proportion of c. 2%. Thus,
we can be sure that the quariz need not have been transported very far if spreads (32) etc.
were man-made. Stones of other lithologies occur naturally in the local drift but are rare
aras. 3.9-3.14 and 4.9 above). The quartz undoubtedly predominates due to it's
dness which would have allowed it to survive harsh treatment in the ice flows and also
because of its relative chemical inertness in comparison to e.g., the local mudstones. The-
main probiem is finding an explanation for the greatly increased concentration of the
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3uartz_ in trench 9 and to a lesser extent in trench 8. The processes involved in the
eposition of the local drift give rise to likely natural explanations.

5.13, There is some evidence for a measure of re-working or water-sorting of the

glacial drift deposits in the area (paras. 3.10 and 3.11). This is hardly surpr;smF as over

much of Britain, the last deposits laid tend to have been late glacial and typically fluvio-
acial or peri-glacial. Waterlain deposits from the late a%lama period tend to have some
egree of sorting of 'particle size' produced by differential speed of water flow.

5.14 At Letterston the vast bulk of the subsoil (03) comJarised c. 20% small and
abraded mudstone/siltstone fragments in a matrix of c. 80% gritty sandy clay. The
presence in subsoil (03) of c. 2% natural quartz materials in the sizé range’ 0.01-2.0kg,
occasional quartz of ¢. 5kg and most importantly a single erratic of c. 400kg (context
(25%) indicate that all this material was c!proba_bly durnped either on site (or very close to
1t) by retreamtxﬁ ice; if subsoil (03) had originated as a waterlain deposit, the speed of
water runoff that would be necessary to move that large erratic would probably have
blasted the sand and clay materials straight off into the nearest water courses. Subsequent
water run-off actmgi on the study area 15 attested to by the presence of a probable run-off
channel (context (20)) in trench 4. It is not too difficult to foresee that such water run-off
across the area may have removed material of the finer particle sizes, perhaps in
considerable quantities, leaving slightly larger materials either in situ, or perhaps moving
them slightly and forming barks of stony material, in this area typically quartz, in the
process.

4) The spreads were a modern hard-core surface
5.15  This possibility cannot be entirely discounted, but certain factors argue against it.

a) There are no indications of any structure at this location on any of published
maps.

b) It 1s highly unlikely that anyone wanting to hard-core the area in more recent
times would have gone to the effort of selecting and gathering such a large quantity of
small quartz when there were stone and gravel quarries in the area.

c) There is some indication on aerial photographs taken in 1990 (Plate 2) that there
was a fence-line or hedged boundary projecting westwards for perhaps 20m from the
north-west corner of the old bamn (marked on Fig. 11) then turning directly southwards.
The line of this 'fence' largely shows as a difference in vegetation. It is not marked on
maps and did not exist in c.” 1955 (Plare I). This fence almost certainly explains the
presence of post holes (36) and (42). Quartz spread (32)}1(34)}/&35) was cu b% posts (36l)l
and (42). Equally lmportantll»; the quartz spread in trench 9 extended for ¢, 10 m to bot

{g)rtth and south of this probable fence-line and would thus seem to be utterly unrelated to

e fence. .
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6. IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

6.1  Excavation of a 5% sample of the total area has indicated that the only area of any
possible archaeological interest in the study area lies around trench 9 where a spread of
quartz, {mg on the subsoil, could either have resulted from human activity or have been
of entirély natural origin. Arguments outlined in section 5 show that there are factors
which would support either interpretation but all fall short of conclusive proof.

6.2  There were some indications on the ground surface of the extent of the quariz
spread; this is marked on Fig. 11 but should be viewed as Frowswnal. The apparent area
of the quartz spread will be affected by the groundwork for two of the houses Torming
part of the new development and also part of the roadway (/ig. /7).

6.3  The quartz s%read lies ¢. 0.03m below the ground surface. Removal of the turfline
by machine 1s possible. Cleaning the exposed quartz by trowel is difficult as there is a
great tendency for the smaller pieces of quartz to be removed.
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APPENDIX 1: Summary of contexts

E

01
02
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}

topsoil - F' and "Ah' horizon up to 0.12m dee]g. i o
lower part of soil profile - thin 'Bs' or weak 'E' horizon up to 0.05m deep with iron
staining at base._ . )

Subsoil - 'C' horizon. Yellow red gritty sandy clay with generally c. 2% small sub-
angular quartzite. )

cut - shallow boundary ditch at § end of trench 1 .

lower fill of (04) - mid-grey, silty clay with frequent modemn finds.

cut - small modern pit té north of (04) in trench 1

fill of (06[{. Light brown sandy c]adr with modern finds.

cut - small modern pit to east of (06) in trench 1. Fill was (10)

cut - laro%e modem pit to N of (06) in trench 1

fill of ( }j:md (09)? Light brown sa_md%r clay with numerous modern finds.

outline of iron-pan - surrounding light grey subsoil with occasional patches of
charcoal flecking. Gorse burning. In trench 1. )

fill of (11) - very light grey sandy clay. Man made pocket of 'E’ horizon.

outline of iron-pan - surrounding light greﬁ subso1l with occasional patches of
charcoal flecking. Gorse bunur:ig. In trench 1. )

fill of (13) - very light grey sandy clay. Man made pocket of 'E' horizon.

outline of iron pan - surrounding lllght g,rei_fl subsoil with occasional patches of
charcoal flecking. Gorse burmn%. n trénch 1.

fil] of (15) - same as (12) and (14) in nature,

light grey patches - in trénch 2. Same type as (12), (14) and (16).

cut - very modern plough furrow in trench 3

fill of 18 - dark brown "Ah' horizon

strip of bright yellow subsoil crossing trench 4 towards SE end of trench. Shallow
late glacial run-off channel. )

cut - boundary ditch alongside hedge in trench 5

lower fill of (21) - light grey _sapdg cla

cut - large shallow modem pit in french 6 . )

fill of (Z3) - light grey silty clay with frequent modern rusty iron nails etc.

large natural boulder’- quartzite erratic in trench 7

cut- small modern pit or depression at NE corner of (25)

fill of&?.ﬁ) - dark brown 'Ah’ horizon type material

subsoil below (25) - bright yellow ston% clay (but no quartz)

layer - quartz and soil spread in trench

modern ploughmarks - at NW comer of trench 8

fills of (31) - modem 'Ah'type material

layer - uppermost quartz spread at east end of trench 9

layer - thin grei/ clayey soil below (32)

layer - bottom layer of quartz spread in trench 9. Below (33).

layer - soil with less quartz to west of (32) in trench 9

cut - post hole cut through (32) in trench X )

deposit - bottom fill of (36} - orangy yellow redeposited subsoil

deposit - dark peaty soil down sides of cut &36) - 1[:lar_obably rotted post

deposit - bright yellow subsoil - redeposited to fill in rotted post in (36)

deposit - collapsed [packm stones in %36).
deposit - bright yellow redeposited subsoil over (40)

unexcavated feature - definitely modem posthole 7m to east of trench 9
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APPENDIX 2: Contents of the site archive

Archive database/cover sheet
Site Name

Site Code

PRN

NPRN

SAM

Other Ref No

NGR

Site Type

Project Type

Project Officer

Project Dates

Categories Present

Location of Original Archive
Location of duplicate Archives
Number of Finds Boxes
Location of Finds

Museum Reference

Copyright

Restrictions to access

47 Station Road, Letterstone, Pembrokeshire
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

CAP Project No 143

SM 949 299

Possible Prehistoric ritual site
Evaluation excavation wenches
Nick Tavener

18-25 February 1999

N/A

Scolton Manor

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

CAPLtd

None
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A) Farm name unknown

Tythe No.
293
294
295
296
297

B) Farm name Longstone :- note all

Name

Park Y Bank
Park Y Ffynt
House etc
Park Yr Ydlan
Park Y Dig

English and unhelpful

owner:-John Hill

Tythe No.
275
276
277
278
279
280
370
371
372
373
374
375
428
429
430
431

Name

Upper Field

Field around House
House and Garden
Field beilow Land
Field below Land
Small Field
'Field’

"

'Hang’

C) Farm name unknown

Tythe No.

574 Parc Cerrig Hirion

Name

notes

[Bank
[Ffyn

[Yydla
[Dig

notes
[Cerrig Hirion =

:- note Welsh field names

= earth bank / hedge]
t = ?untranslatable]
n = rickyard]

= anger ({(Jones, 1688)]

Acres,
1,2, 4
2,0,36

b o= L W W (5%
Vo BN SO I o7« R an B (O Y = B o 0 £5 ]

L T I ]

fieldnames

Occupier:- James Williams

Rods,

in

Perches

long stones]

Selected field names for Fig. 5A
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